Filed 09-28-2022 Page 1 of 45

FILED 09-28-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT Appeal No. 2021 AP 000009-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Respondent,

v.

JONATHAN LIEBZEIT,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW AND APPENDIX

PETITION FROM A DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT III, DATED AUGUST 30, 2022

Respectfully Submitted:

ANDEREGG & ASSOCIATES
Post Office Box 170258
Milwaukee, WI 53217-8021
(414) 963-4590
By: Rex R. Anderegg
State Bar No. 1016560

ISSUES PRESENTEDv				
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS1				
CRITERIA RELIED UPON FOR REVIEW 5				
I. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION IS IN				
CONFLICT WITH A LONG HISTORY OF				
STATE CASES RECOGNIZING THE PLENARY				
DISCRETION OF CIRCUIT COURTS IN MATTERS				
OF SENTENCING, AND ALSO MORE RECENT				
UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT DECISIONS				
ADDRESSING LIFE-WITHOUT-PAROLE				
SENTENCES FOR YOUTHFUL OFFENDERS,				
AND THE IMPORTANCE OF REVISITING				
SUCH SENTENCES ON COLLATERAL REVIEW5				
A. The Court Of Appeals' Opinion In This				
Case Conflicts With The Wide Discretion				
Sentencing Courts Have In Wisconsin6				
B. Miller v. Alabama & Montgomery v.				
Louisiana8				
II. THE APPELLATE COURT'S DECISION IS IN				
ACCORD WITH OPINIONS OF THE SUPREME				
COURT BUT DUE TO THE PASSAGE OF TIME				
OR CHANGING CIRCUMSTANCES, SUCH				
OPINIONS ARE RIPE FOR REEXAMINATION, BECAUSE THE FAILURE TO PAY <i>ANY</i> DEFERENCE TO THE SENTENCING COURT				
				REGARDING THE EXISTENCE OF A NEW
				FACTOR MAKES NO SENSE WHEN THE

	CORE DEFINITION OF A NEW FACTOR IS WHETHER IT WAS HIGHLY RELEVANT TO THE SENTENCE IMPOSED, WHETHER THE COURT WAS AWARE OF IT, AND ALSO THE COURT'S APPRAISAL OF WHETHER IT FRUSTRATES THE PURPOSE OF THE ORIGINAL SENTENCE			
	A.	This Case Exposes A Flaw In The Standard Of Review For The Existence Of A New Factor		
	В.	New Medical And Social Science Has Established A Scientific Consensus That The 19-Year-Old Brain Is Not Fully Formed16		
III.	DEVE THE I RESO	CISION BY THIS COURT WILL HELP ELOP, CLARIFY AND HARMONIZE LAW ON NOVEL ISSUES, THE DLUTION OF WHICH WILL HAVE TEWIDE IMPACT		
	A.	There Should Not Be A Categorical Bar On A New Factor Which Arises From A Fact That Existed And Was True At The Time Of The Original Sentencing, But Was Overlooked Because Scientific Advances Did Not Discover It And Develop It Into A Scientific Consensus, Until Years Later18		
	В.	Ninham Cannot Rightfully Be Extended To A Case Where The Brain Science Principles Known To Be Applicable To Minors Were Wrongfully Considered Inapplicable To An Emerging 19-Year-Old Adult20		

I.	THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED WHEN IT CONCLUDED THAT <i>NINHAM</i> IS DISPOSITIVE
	OF THIS CASE23
II.	THE COURT OF APPEALS IMPROPERLY
11.	INVADED THE PROVINCE OF THE
	SENTENCING COURT BY REJECTING ITS
	EXPLANATION FOR THE SENTENCE IT
	ORIGINALLY IMPOSED, AND DILUTING
	ITS EXPRESS RELIANCE ON THE
	IMPOSSIBILITY OF REHABILITATION27
	1.11 0.0012 1211 1 01 1.211 12 12 11 11 12 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
III.	THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVIDED AND
111.	CONQUERED THE TWO NEW FACTORS
	EVEN THOUGH BOTH PERTAINED TO
	LIEBZEIT'S BRAIN AND WERE
	THEREFORE INTIMATELY RELATED29
IV.	THE APPELLATE COURT'S DECISION FAILS
1	TO RECOGNIZE THAT WHEN A MANDATORY
	LIFE SENTENCE MUST BE IMPOSED AND
	THE <i>POSSIBILITY</i> OF PAROLE ADDRESSED,
	THE THRESHOLD QUESTION OF WHETHER
	IT IS EVEN <i>POSSIBLE</i> TO REHABILITATE THE
	DEFENDANT TAKES CENTER STAGE, AND
	IS AN INQUIRY DRIVEN LARGELY BY THE
	GRAVITY OF THE OFFENSE31
V.	THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED WHEN
	CONCLUDING THE SENTENCING COURT'S
	WELL-REASONED SENTENCE MODIFICATION
	WAS BASED SOLELY ON MERE REFLECTION
	OR SECOND THOUGHTS34

ARGUMENT23

CONCLUSION	N AND RELIEF REQUESTED30			
CERTIFICATI	ONS37			
APPENDIX				
Appendix A:	COA Opinion			
Appendix B:	Transcript Of Decision Granting Motion For Modification Of Sentence			

ISSUES PRESENTED

WHETHER THIS COURT'S DECISION IN I. STATE V. NINHAM, 2011 WI 33, 333 WIS. 2D 335, 797 N.W.2D 451, WHICH HELD THAT THE BRAIN SCIENCE DISCUSSED IN SUPREME COURT CASES, WHEN APPLIED TO JUVENILE OFFENDERS, WAS NOT A NEW FACTOR, COMPELLED THE SAME OUTCOME IN A CASE INVOLVING A YOUNG ADULT, WHEN **APPLICABILITY** OF **THAT BRAIN** SCIENCE TO YOUNG ADULTS WAS NOT THE TIME NINHAM WAS KNOWN AT DECIDED.

The trial court answered: No.

The court of appeals answered: Yes.

II. WHETHER APPLICATION OF NINHAM TO REVERSE A SENTENCING COURT'S WELL-REASONED **DECISION** TO **GRANT** SENTENCE MODIFICATION TO ALLOW FOR THE POSSIBILITY OF PAROLE, BASED ON ITS ORIGINAL ERRONEOUS BELIEF THAT A 19-YEAR-OLD COULD **NEVER** REHABILITATED. **IMPERMISSIBLY** INTERFERES WITH THE WIDE LATITUDE AND DISCRETION **THAT SENTENCING** COURTS ARE GRANTED IN THIS STATE.

The trial court answered: Yes.

The court of appeals answered: No.

III. WHETHER THE EXISTENCE OF A NEW FACTOR IS A QUESTION THAT SHOULD BE REVIEWED WITH NO DEFERENCE TO THE SENTENCING COURT, WHEN BY DEFINITION THE INQUIRY INCLUDES WHETHER THE NEW FACTOR WAS HIGHLY RELEVANT TO IMPOSITION OF THE ORIGINAL SENTENCE, AND WHETHER IT WAS KNOWN OR UNKNOWN AT THE TIME OF THE **ORIGINAL** SENTENCING, **BOTH** INQUIRIES ON WHICH THE SENTENCING COURT IS IN A UNIQUE AND SUPERIOR POSITION TO OPINE.

The trial court: Did not address this issue.

The court of appeals answered: No.

IV. WHETHER A CATEGORICAL BAR ON A BRAND OF NEW FACTOR SHOULD BE WHERE NEW FACTOR ALLOWED THE EXISTED AT THE TIME OF THE ORIGINAL SENTENCING HEARING, AND WAS CENTRAL TO THE **SENTENCE** IMPOSED, UNKNOWN TO THE SENTENCING COURT, AS OPPOSED TO A NEW FACTOR THAT DID NOT EXIST AT THE TIME OF THE ORIGINAL SENTENCING HEARING, BUT AROSE IN THE YEARS THEREAFTER.

The trial court: Did not specifically address this issue.

The court of appeals answered: No.

Case 2021AP000009 Petition for Review Filed 09-28-2022 Page 8 of 45

Statement Of The Case And Facts

On October 30, 1996, the State charged Liebzeit with First-Degree Intentional Homicide, just one week after he turned nineteen. (R2). The crime involved Liebzeit hitting Alex Schaffer in the head with a baseball bat. Two codefendants, James Thompson and Daniel Mischler, were also involved. Thompson also struck Schaffer in the head with the bat and, in his frenzy, accidentally struck Liebzeit's head, largely incapacitating Liebzeit. Thompson and Mischler then held Schaffer under water until he drowned. (R181-50-151; R184-2-67). A jury found Liebzeit guilty. (R188-4-5).

On June 24, 1997, the court sentenced Liebzeit to life without the possibility of parole. (R59). The circuit court based the sentence almost entirely on the nature of the crime from which it viewed Liebzeit as beyond repair:

As far as rehabilitation is concerned, I don't know how one would begin to rehabilitate a person that has, inside of himself, such rage and anger that over such trivial matters, that they would kill a friend. How do you begin to counsel and train somebody not to do that? . . . Rehabilitation, I think it would be very problematic to try to deal with such an antisocial personality as this.

Case 2021AP000009 Petition for Review Filed 09-28-2022 Page 9 of 45

(*Id.* at pp. 60-61). The sentence the court gave Liebzeit in 1997 was understandable given the prevailing norms for young adults and the information available to it at that time.¹

Twenty-two years later, in November of 2019, the sentencing judge attended a continuing education seminar which featured Dr. Leah Somerville, a professor of Harvard's Department of Psychology and Center for Brain Science. (R138; R192-25-26). Professor Somerville presented her conclusions from a recently published article: *Searching for Signatures of Brain Maturity: What Are We Searching For?* Neuron (Oct. 2016). (R141). Those conclusions included that, contrary to prior conventional thinking, the brain of a 19-year-old was far from fully formed. (*Id.*). As this Court presumably would have wished, the judge applied what he learned at the seminar to cases he handled, and ultimately decided to revisit this case. (R192-25-26). He thus asked both parties to weigh in on whether the brain science might constitute a new factor that would warrant a sentence modification. (R138).

The parties therefore briefed the issues with Liebzeit noting there was another new factor: a diagnosis of brain damage Liebzeit received as a juvenile. (R140-2-4). On October 9, 2020, the court conducted a hearing to address whether there were new factors. (R192). After hearing argument, the sentencing court concluded two new factors existed: (1) new science regarding the emerging adult brain of a 19-year-old; and (2) documented brain damage Liebzeit

-

¹The State also argued, based on the nature of the crime, that Liebzeit was not the type of person who would respond to rehabilitative efforts. (*Id.* at 21). At age nineteen, Liebzeit could be said to be forever beyond redemption.

Case 2021AP000009 Petition for Review Filed 09-28-2022 Page 10 of 45

suffered as a minor. (R192-32). The court scheduled another hearing to address whether these new factors justified a sentence modification. (*Id.* at 32-34).

On November 3, 2020, after again hearing argument, and input from the victim's family, the court modified Liebzeit's sentence to make him merely *eligible* for parole on January 1, 2023. (R193-37-38). The sentencing court cogently explained:

At the first sentencing the Court placed almost all of the weight on the monstrous nature of the homicide. This Court dismissed the potential for rehabilitation and indicated at that time that how does one rehabilitate a person that has inside himself such rage and anger over such trivial matters that they would have killed a friend. Rehabilitation would be problematic to deal with such an antisocial personality as this. . . . In Graham the Supreme Court said that in deciding that a juvenile offender forever will be a danger to society would require making a judgment that the child is incorrigible. Thus, this Court did not understand the emerging adult brain development and rejected the possibility of rehabilitation. . . . The Court's belief of the defendant's long-term dangerousness to society was likely misguided. Again, the Court based that determination primarily on the nature of the homicide.

Case 2021AP000009 Petition for Review Filed 09-28-2022 Page 11 of 45

(R193-36-37). The sentence modification left to the sound discretion of the DOC the question of when, if ever, Liebzeit should be paroled. The sentencing court also relied on the fact that while it knew Liebzeit had an addiction problem with inhalants going back to age 14 or so, it did not know this use had actually resulted in diagnosed and documented *brain damage*. (*Id.* at 36).

The State appealed. (R162). On August 30, 2022, the court of appeals reversed. (Appendix A). The court of appeals explained it was compelled to reverse given this Court's decision in *State v. Ninham*, 2011 WI 33, 333 Wis.2d 335, 797 N.W.2d 451. (*Id.* at 21). Liebzeit now petitions this Court to review the court of appeals decision.

CRITERIA RELIED UPON FOR REVIEW

THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION IS IN I. CONFLICT WITH A LONG HISTORY OF STATE CASES RECOGNIZING THE PLENARY DISCRETION **OF CIRCUIT** COURTS MATTERS OF SENTENCING, AND ALSO MORE RECENT UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT DECISIONS ADDRESSING LIFE-WITHOUT-**PAROLE SENTENCES FOR** YOUTHFUL OFFENDERS, AND THE **IMPORTANCE** REVISITING **SUCH SENTENCES** ON **COLLATERAL REVIEW.**

Eleven years ago this Court decided *Ninham*, a case in which the minor defendant and other juveniles randomly attacked a 13-year-old riding his bike. Ninham and the others beat the victim and then followed him when he ran up a parking ramp to escape, caught him on the top floor and continued beating him before eventually throwing him off the parking ramp causing his death. ¶¶14-16. Ninham was convicted of first-degree intentional homicide and the court sentenced him to life without the possibility of parole.² *Id.* at ¶29.

In 2007, Ninham sought to modify his sentence so as to be eligible for parole. *Id.* at ¶35. Ninham argued, *inter alia*, that new scientific evidence relating to juvenile brain development

² Ninham was also charged with threatening the lives of his trial judge and three witnesses. *Id.* at ¶ 22. At trial, Ninham claimed he was not at the scene of the homicide, but if he was, he did not intend to drop the victim. *Id.* at ¶ 23. Unlike Liebzeit, Ninham maintained his complete innocence throughout the entire case, including his sentencing. *Id.* at ¶¶ 25, 28.

5

.

Case 2021AP000009 Petition for Review Filed 09-28-2022 Page 13 of 45

constituted a new factor relevant to the sentence imposed. *Id.* The circuit court denied the request noting it was well aware of the differences between juveniles and adult offenders at the time of the original sentencing hearing. *Id.* at ¶39. The circuit court also opined, and this Court agreed, that there were no significant distinctions between the "new" scientific evidence cited by Ninham, and the psychological evidence on minors discussed in *Thompson v. Oklahoma*, 487 U.S. 815 (1988) (plurality opinion), twelve years before Ninham was sentenced. *Id.* at ¶¶91-92.

A. The Court Of Appeals' Opinion In This Case Conflicts With The Wide Discretion Sentencing Courts Have In Wisconsin.

Wisconsin has a long history of granting sentencing courts great discretion in determining the appropriate sentence. Decisions affirming this discretion are too numerous for exhaustive review. See, e.g., Riley v. State, 47 Wis. 2d 801, 803, 177 N.W.2d 838 (1970) (presumption court acted reasonably when reviewing sentencing decisions); McCleary, supra ("the law gives the judge wide discretion in sentencing"); State v. Schilz, 50 Wis. 2d 395, 400, 184 N.W.2d 134 (1971) ("strong policy against interference with the trial court's sentencing discretion"); Ocanas v. State, 70 Wis. 2d 179, 183, 233 N.W.2d 457 (1975) ("review of the sentencing court's discretion is highly deferential"); State v. Paske, 163 Wis. 2d 52, 64, 471 N.W.2d 55 (1991) ("weight to be attributed to each factor is within discretion of sentencing judge"); State v. Harris, 2010 WI 79, ¶29, 326 Wis. 2d 685, 786 N.W.2d 409

Case 2021AP000009 Petition for Review Filed 09-28-2022 Page 14 of 45

(in exercising discretion, sentencing courts individualize sentences based on case facts by identifying the most relevant factors and explaining how the sentence imposed furthers sentencing objectives").

There was no tension between *Ninham* and the highly deferential review of sentencing court decisions, because Ninham's sentencing court *denied* the sentence modification, and this Court affirmed. There is significant tension in this case, however, because Liebzeit's sentencing court *granted* the sentence modification, and despite doing so with a well-reasoned explanation, it has now been reversed. The judge who knows Liebzeit and his case best, and who has continuing jurisdiction over Liebzeit's sentence, along with the inherent authority and discretion to modify it, *State v. Noll*, 2002 WI App. 273, ¶12, 258 Wis. 2d 573, 653 N.W.2d 895, has been told he cannot modify Liebzeit's sentence, despite a cogent explanation of why he did so.

The decision here is therefore at odds with the long-recognized authority and discretion of a sentencing court. As the sentencing court so rationally explained (and the record confirms), it initially made Liebzeit ineligible for parole because it viewed his rehabilitation as impossible. Twenty-two years later, and due to momentous advances in the understanding of the 19-year-old brain, it realized the cornerstone of its sentence was flawed. It realized it was at least *possible* Liebzeit might be rehabilitated, and that the DOC was therefore best suited to make that determination. This factor had been highly relevant to the imposition of the original sentence. And it frustrated the very purpose of its original sentence, *State v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶52, 333 Wis.2d 53,

Case 2021AP000009 Petition for Review Filed 09-28-2022 Page 15 of 45

797 N.W.2d 828, which was to ensure that what it then viewed as an incorrigible 19-year-old was never given an opportunity for parole.³

B. Miller v. Alabama & Montgomery v. Louisiana

At the time this Court decided *Ninham*, the Supreme Court had decided, and this Court therefore considered, Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005) and Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 (2010). Roper had held it unconstitutional to impose capital punishment on any juvenile. Graham had held it unconstitutional to impose life-without-parole sentences for juveniles who had committed non-homicide offenses. Neither case implicated, as the Supreme Court had not yet opined on, the type of sentence in this case: life-without-parole for youthful offenders who had committed a homicide. Both Roper and Graham had, however, discussed the important differences between juvenile and adult offenders: (1) a lack of maturity and an underdeveloped sense of responsibility, qualities which often result in impulsive actions and decisions; (2) greater vulnerability or susceptibility to negative influences and peer pressure; and (3) characters that are not as well formed as adults.

The Supreme Court has now decided *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), which addressed the exact sentence Liebzeit received - life-without-parole for a homicide case,

٠

³ Even if Liebzeit's sentencing court had not expressly placed rehabilitation at the center of its original sentence, Wisconsin courts have generally paid deference even to a sentencing court's *post* hoc explanation for why it imposed the original sentence in the first place. *State v. Fuerst*, 181 Wis. 2d 903, 915, 512 N.W.2d 243 (Ct. App. 1994) (deference will be paid to circuit court's *second* opportunity to explain its original sentence).

Case 2021AP000009 Petition for Review Filed 09-28-2022 Page 16 of 45

albeit for statutorily juvenile offenders. *Miller* held such sentences unconstitutional, though only when they are mandatory. Sentencing judges could still, in the exercise of their discretion, impose life-without-parole sentences for juveniles. However, the same observations about the differences between juveniles and adults that drove the decisions in *Roper* and *Graham* made it unconstitutional for state legislatures to take that discretion from judges, even when the offender had committed a homicide. *Miller* therefore affirmed the importance and necessity of allowing sentencing courts to consider the attributes of youthful offenders when deciding the question of eligibility for parole.

The Supreme Court has also now decided *Montgomery* v. Louisiana, 577 U.S. 190 (2016). Montgomery held that Miller announced a new substantive constitutional rule that was retroactive on state collateral review, thereby compelling states to go back and review such sentences. In other words, the Supreme Court's concern with life-without-parole sentences for youthful homicide offenders was so grave that it required state courts to go back and review such sentences. This is what Liebzeit's sentencing court has done in this case.

Even more in line with the case *sub judice* is *McKinley* v. *Butler*, 809 F.3d 908, 911 (7th Cir. 2016), another post-*Ninham* case. *McKinley* examined a *discretionary* and *de facto* life-without-parole sentence, and pointed out that sentencing courts must always consider a defendant's age when deciding what sentence, within statutory limits, to impose on a youthful offender:

Case 2021AP000009 Petition for Review Filed 09-28-2022 Page 17 of 45

But the "children are different" passage that we quoted earlier from *Miller v. Alabama* cannot logically be limited to de jure life sentences, as distinct from sentences denominated in number of years yet highly likely to result in imprisonment for life. The relevance to sentencing of "children are different" also cannot in logic depend on whether the legislature has made the life sentence discretionary or mandatory; even discretionary life sentences must be guided by consideration of age-relevant factors.

Id. (Emphasis added; citations omitted). Liebzeit's lifewithout-parole sentence was not *de facto*, it was *de jure*, and it was also *discretionary*.

It is true that neither *Miller* nor *Montgomery* conflict with *Ninham* in the sense that they compel the relief Liebzeit's sentencing court granted him. Liebzeit's original sentence was not mandatory, nor was he a juvenile, in the statutory sense. At the same time, it cannot be denied that those decisions, to an appreciable degree, reflect an extension of Supreme Court precedent to circumstances much more in line with this case than *Roper* or *Graham*. *Miller* speaks to the precise sentence Liebzeit received while *Montgomery* speaks to collateral review of such sentences. It is not difficult to understand why Liebzeit's sentencing court viewed them as relevant, and as having changed the landscape regarding how life-without-parole sentences for youthful offenders should be viewed, and the appropriateness of revisiting such sentences.

Case 2021AP000009 Petition for Review Filed 09-28-2022 Page 18 of 45

Miller and Montgomery also more directly repudiate the core reasoning of Ninham, because they do treat the brain science as something new, and not just the same old observations a mere plurality of the Supreme Court had made in Thompson:

The evidence presented to us in these cases indicates that the science and social science supporting *Roper* 's and *Graham* 's conclusions have become even stronger. See, e.g., Brief for American Psychological Association et al. as Amici Curiae 3 ("[A]n ever-growing body of research in developmental psychology and neuroscience continues to confirm and strengthen the Court's conclusions"); id., at 4 ("It is increasingly clear that adolescent brains are not yet fully mature in regions and systems related to higher-order executive functions such as impulse control, planning ahead, and risk avoidance"); Brief for J. Lawrence Aber et al. as *Amici* Curiae 26–27 ("Numerous post-Graham indicate that exposure to deviant peers leads to increased deviant behavior and is consistent predictor of adolescent delinquency."

Miller, at 472, fn 5. The idea that the Supreme Court has not recognized, and relied on, significant advances in brain science during the 35 years since *Thompson* was decided is no longer a tenable position.

Case 2021AP000009 Petition for Review Filed 09-28-2022 Page 19 of 45

Ninham was also persuaded by the fact that a vast majority of states permitted juveniles to be sentenced to life without parole. Ninham at ¶55. The dissent in Miller also found such to be persuasive. Miller at 482. Miller, however, has now rejected that reasoning. Moreover, one case Ninham cited for that proposition - Miller v. State, 63 So. 3d 676 (Ala. Crim. App. 2010) – is the very case Miller reversed.

Finally, the undeniable fact that Liebzeit's crime was heinous in nature was a focal point of the State's arguments. It was also an important backdrop to the court of appeals' decision which meticulously revisited all the aggravating factors, (Appendix A, pp. 3-6), noted their centrality to the original sentencing decision, (*id.* at 6-7, 13-14), and used the gravity of the crime to undercut the sentence modification. (*Id.* at 14-15).

Miller, however, reasoned that new medical and social science has done away with the myth that youthful offenders can be accurately labeled as incorrigible, and *Montgomery* has noted such is true even where the crime was horrendous. The Supreme Court has now cautioned sentencing courts not to put undue weight on the particular facts of the case, or deem such proof of incorrigibility:

Extending parole eligibility to juvenile offenders does not impose an onerous burden on the States, nor does it disturb the finality of state convictions. Those prisoners who have shown an inability to reform will continue to serve life sentences. The opportunity for release will be

Case 2021AP000009 Petition for Review Filed 09-28-2022 Page 20 of 45

afforded to those who demonstrate the truth of *Miller*'s central intuition . . . **children who commit even heinous crimes are capable of change.**

Montgomery, at 212 (emphasis added), citing Miller, supra. As Liebzeit's sentencing court explained, it did precisely what the Supreme Court is now cautioning courts not to do at Liebzeit's original sentencing hearing. It put undue weight on the facts due to the heinous nature of Liebzeit's crime, and deemed him forever incapable of rehabilitation.

Case 2021AP000009 Petition for Review Filed 09-28-2022 Page 21 of 45

II. THE APPELLATE COURT'S DECISION IS IN ACCORD WITH OPINIONS OF THE SUPREME COURT BUT DUE TO THE PASSAGE OF TIME OR CHANGING CIRCUMSTANCES, SUCH OPINIONS ARE RIPE FOR REEXAMINATION, BECAUSE THE FAILURE TO PAY ANY DEFERENCE TO THE SENTENCING COURT REGARDING THE EXISTENCE OF A NEW FACTOR MAKES NO SENSE WHEN THE CORE **DEFINITION OF A NEW FACTOR IS WHETHER** HIGHLY RELEVANT WAS TO THE SENTENCE IMPOSED, WHETHER THE COURT WAS AWARE OF IT, AND ALSO THE COURT'S APPRAISAL OF WHETHER IT FRUSTRATES THE PURPOSE OF THE ORIGINAL SENTENCE.

> A. This Case Exposes A Flaw In The Standard Of Review For The Existence Of A New Factor.

This petition presents an opportunity for this Court to revisit whether it is proper for the standard of review for the existence of a "new factor" to be purely *de novo*. The definition of a new factor is:

[A] fact or set of facts highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, but not known to the trial judge at the time of original sentencing, either because it was not then in existence or because, even though it was then in existence, it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties.

Case 2021AP000009 Petition for Review Filed 09-28-2022 Page 22 of 45

Harbor at ¶40. Two important components of this definition — whether the new factor was highly relevant to the sentence and whether the sentencing court was aware of it — are both matters on which the sentencing court is in a unique and superior position to opine.

What is highly relevant to the imposition of a sentence is peculiarly within a sentencing court's province, given its "wide discretion to determine what factors are relevant, and what weight to give each factor," *State v. Williams*, 2018 WI 59, ¶47, 381 Wis. 2d 661, 912 N.W.2d 373. Depriving the sentencing court of any voice on this issue is also inconsistent with prior decisions of Wisconsin courts. *Ninham* is illustrative of this truism. The sentencing court in *Ninham* explained that it *was* aware, at the time of the original sentencing, of the factor Ninham tried to position as new. This Court accepted and relied on that explanation when affirming the denial of a sentencing modification. In other words, *Ninham* was faithful to the sentencing court's discretion. The appellate court's decision in this case is not.

Here, the sentencing court explained it was *not* aware and *never* considered the brain science at issue. It further explained the original sentence it imposed was premised on its belief that it was impossible for Liebzeit to *ever* be rehabilitated, and that he would *always* pose a danger to the public. The sentencing court then explained that the new brain science was highly relevant to the sentence it had imposed because it undercut the idea that Liebzeit would forever be beyond rehabilitation. Inherent in the modification of Liebzeit's sentence is the idea that the new factor *did* frustrate the purpose of the original sentence, which was to ensure that

Case 2021AP000009 Petition for Review Filed 09-28-2022 Page 23 of 45

Liebzeit was *never* released from prison, a purpose which, in light of the new factor, no longer made sense to the court.

Sentencing courts are uniquely positioned to know whether a new factor frustrates the very purpose of original sentences. *Harbor*, at ¶52. *Harbor* held that the frustration of the purpose of an original sentence is not an independent requirement when determining whether a fact or set of facts alleged by a defendant constitutes a new factor. *Id.* at ¶48. It also held, however, such a consideration permissible when deciding the issue, while noting that any fact that frustrates the purpose of the original sentence would generally be a new factor highly relevant to the imposition of sentence. *Id.* Whether a new factor exists in the first place is also affected by whether it frustrates the purpose of the original sentence, an inquiry the sentencing court knows best.

B. New Medical And Social Science Has Established A Scientific Consensus That The 19-Year-Old Brain Is Not Fully Formed.

Scientific advances since this Court decided *Ninham* have changed the way we understand the development of the juvenile brain into the adult brain. More specifically, the sentencing court here relied on a 2016 article published by Dr. Leah Somerville of Harvard's Department of Psychology and Center for Brain Science, wherein she observed that:

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