Filed 10-05-2022

FILED 10-05-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2021AP09-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

JONATHAN LIEBZEIT,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2796 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) kumferle@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

Nothing presented in Liebzeit's petition is worthy of this Court's review.

First, Liebzeit's claim that the circuit court has "plenary discretion" to modify a sentence based upon a new factor, and thus the court of appeals's opinion here creates a "conflict" with the cases he cites, is patently wrong. (Pet. 2, 12–20.) All of the cases he cites are about the circuit court's wide discretion at the *initial sentencing hearing*. (Pet. 13–14.) No one disputes that sentencing courts have wide discretion at initial sentencing. It has been established law for decades, however, that after the time for direct appeal has passed, that discretion is greatly circumscribed and can only be exercised if the defendant shows that a "new factor" exists as a matter of law and that it warrants modification as a matter of discretion. *Rosado v. State*, 70 Wis. 2d 280, 288, 234 N.W.2d 69 (1975).

And there can be no dispute, at this late stage of the law development, that what Liebzeit presented to the circuit court—research papers showing that the brain continues to mature beyond age 18, and a Libertas report from 1990 showing that his brain damage from inhalant abuse (of which the sentencing court was well aware at sentencing) had been hindering his progress in treatment when he was 13 years old—were not new factors as a matter of law, because this Court has already held that they are not.

This Court and the court of appeals have already considered and rejected these same arguments that research about the maturing early-adult brain are a new factor in scores of cases.⁷ See, e.g., State v. Ninham, 2011 WI 33, ¶¶ 87–

5

⁷ The State cites the following unpublished cases not for any persuasive value or authority, but for the proper purpose of

Page 6 of 11

93, 333 Wis. 2d 335, 797 N.W.2d 451; State v. McDermott, 2012 WI App 14, ¶¶ 16–22, 339 Wis. 2d 316, 810 N.W.2d 237, pet. for rev. denied Aug. 2, 2012; State v. Garcia, 2020AP1484-CR, 2022 WL 1600017 (Wis. Ct. App. Jan. 13, 2022) (unpublished); State v. Swadner, 2020AP1164-CR, 2021 WL 3160164, ¶¶ 21-24 (Wis. Ct. App. July 27, 2021) (unpublished) pet. for rev. denied Dec. 15, 2021; State v. Brown, 2019AP1006-CR, 2021 WL 8566571, *2 (Wis. Ct. App. Mar. 16, 2021) (unpublished); State v. Linton, 2019AP2264-CR, 2021 WL 1619282, ¶¶ 15–21 (Wis. Ct. App. Apr. 27, 2021) (unpublished) pet. for rev. denied Sept. 14, 2021; State v. Morgan, 2017AP2357, 2022 WL 1573402, *2-*3 (Wis. Ct. App. Jan. 25, 2022) (unpublished); State v. Young. 2018AP308-CR, 2019 WL 761637, ¶¶ 18–27 (Wis. Ct. App. Feb. 20, 2019) (unpublished); State v. Jackson, 2018 WI App 62, 384 Wis. 2d 271, 921 N.W.2d 4 (unpublished), pet. for rev. denied Aug. 11, 2021, cert. denied Jan. 18, 2022.; State v. Rogers, 2016AP2094-CR, 2017 WL 5760429, ¶¶ 8–9 (Wis. Ct. App. Nov. 28, 2017) (unpublished); State v. Moore, 2016AP1014-CR, 2017 WL 2438700, ¶¶ 12–16 (Wis. Ct. App. June 6, 2017) (unpublished). These are common-sense rulings. Particularized science on the topic is not a "new" factor when it has always been a matter of common knowledge that even after reaching legal adulthood human beings become more responsible and less impulsive as they age. College students are typically aged 18-22, and no reasonable person could argue with a straight face that until reading a particular scientific study, they didn't realize that young adults of this age group are more impulsive than adults over 25.

demonstrating consistency of reasoning and result when these arguments have been made. See In re Matthew D., 2016 WI 35, ¶ 107 n.27, 368 Wis. 2d 170, 880 N.W.2d 107 (Abrahamson, J., and Ann Walsh Bradley, J., dissenting).

And this Court has further already held that presenting the court with additional information about a mental illness or medical condition that the court was aware of at sentencing—and the court was well aware at sentencing that Liebzeit had a major problem with inhalant abuse that affected his behavior—is not a new factor, either. *State v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶¶ 54–63, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828.

Liebzeit's petition sets forth nothing to suggest that anything has actually undermined these decisions, nor any real argument explaining why they are no longer sound. (Pet. 13–20.) Really, he simply asks this Court to revisit these questions because he disagrees with the answers. That is not a proper reason for this Court to take a case.

Next, Liebzeit attempts to undo decades of case law holding that whether a new factor exists is a question of law reviewed de novo. (Pet. 21–22.) But to do so he asks this court to essentially just do away with the first part of the new factor test and allow a circuit court to modify a sentence any time it determines something was "highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, but not known to the trial judge at the time." (Pet. 21 (quoting *Harbor*, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 40).) So, essentially, Liebzeit asks this Court to bestow upon the trial courts the same broad degree of discretion to modify a sentence even decades after it was imposed as the court had at the initial sentencing hearing, regardless whether the information could have been presented then and regardless if it merely casts information that was before the sentencing court in a different light.

Apart from the fact that Liebzeit presents no compelling argument that any constitutional, statutory, or even any public policy consideration requires such a vast departure from *Rosado* and its progeny, doing so would upend the State's and the public's weighty and important interest in the finality of criminal cases and require this Court to overrule

7

over 50 years of Wisconsin sentencing law. See Hayes v. State, 46 Wis. 2d 93, 175 N.W.2d 625 (1970) (changing the state rule prohibiting sentence modification to allow modification under the court's inherent authority within 90 days of sentencing) codified at Wis. Stat. § 973.19; Rosado, 70 Wis. 2d at 288 (holding that sentence modification after the 90-day period has expired is appropriate only if the defendant meets the now-familiar two-pronged "new factor" test).

Liebzeit has not provided anything showing a necessity for such a drastic about-face in the law. He cites to no decisions that conflict with *Ninham* and *McDermott* (Pet. 30– 34), he fails to acknowledge that *Harbor* definitively disposed of his argument that the 1990 Libertas report stating that his brain damage was affecting his treatment was a new factor, (Pet. 36–38), and he draws a distinction without a difference by arguing that, somehow, while research about the adolescent brain is insufficient to warrant modifying juvenile sentences, it *is* sufficient to modify the sentences of those aged 18 to 25, (Pet. 27–28). That is nonsensical.

At bottom, Liebzeit's petition for review asks this Court to overrule at least two dozen cases and 50 years of precedent to make the sentencing court's decision to modify a sentence carry more weight than its original sentencing pronouncement without showing any reason why that change in the law is warranted. This Court should decline his request.

8

CONCLUSION

This Court should deny Liebzeit's petition for review. Dated this 5th day of October 2022.